EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PROTEIN INTAKE AND SOURCE AND ACANTHOSIS NIGRICANS AMONG YOUNG CHILDREN IN THE CHILDREN'S HEALTHY LIVING PROGRAM IN THE UNITED STATES AFFILIATED PACIFIC

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE DIVISION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII AT MANOA IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

NUTRITIONAL SCIENCES

MAY 2019

By

Allison Patricia Aiko Calabrese

Thesis Committee:

Marie Kainoa Fialkowski Revilla, Chairperson Carol Boushey James Davis Rachael Leon Guerrero Rachel Novotny

Keywords: acanthosis, protein, protein source

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my family, who has encouraged and supported me from the very start, to expand my knowledge and pursue my academic and career goals. First and foremost, I thank God for blessing me with the gift to learn and share my passion with others. To my dad, Claude Calabrese, you have always been my mentor and guide in all aspects of my life. Thank you for always being there, regardless of the circumstance and being my number 1 supporter. To my mom, Rose Ann Calabrese, you are the most selfless, kind hearted, and hard-working person I know. Thank you for instilling those values in me and continuing to be a strong female role mode in my life. To my brother and sister, Kelsie and Jason, though we could not be any more different, you two are my best friends and the ones I can always count on to be in my corner. Last, but not least, to my boyfriend, Ian Kukahiko, you have and continue to shower me with love and support in all of my life goals. I would not be the person I am today without you, I cannot wait to see what the next chapter of our lives has in store for us.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I acknowledge the Children's Healthy Living (CHL) Program for supporting this research by working with me and providing the datasets. I thank the Children's Healthy Living Summer Institute for funding my graduate school. I thank my thesis committee members for accepting my candidacy into the Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences Program and for working with me. I thank Dr. Marie Kainoa Fialkowski Revilla for being my chairperson and mentoring me through this experience. The USDA grant no. 2011-68001-30335 that funded the CHL Program is also acknowledged. I acknowledge that CHL participants who willingly contributed to science and academic literature for the betterment of our understanding about the relationship of acanthosis nigricans and protein intake in the United States Affiliated Pacific.

ABSTRACT

<u>BACKGROUND</u>: Acanthosis Nigricans (acanthosis) is a dermatological condition that is characterized by a symmetrical, velvety, light brown to black pigmentation of the skin. Acanthosis has been reported to be linked to obesity and is a physical marker on the skin for insulin resistance. Previous research has focused on the relationship of high carbohydrate and fat diets with insulin resistance. However, there are no studies to date analyzing the relationship between protein intake and food sources to acanthosis in children.

<u>OBJECTIVE</u>: The purpose of this study was to examine if the presence of acanthosis is related to dietary protein consumption and protein source among children in the United States Affiliated Pacific.

<u>METHODS</u>: A secondary analysis was conducted on data collected from 3468, 2 to 8-year-old children in 11 jurisdictions from the Children's Healthy Living Program. One way ANOVA was conducted to determine the relationship between acanthosis and total energy intake (kcal), mean protein (g), fat (g) and dairy (servings) intake of the two days weighted for weekday/weekend, mean meat (oz) intake and lean meat equivalents from egg (oz), poultry (oz), franks and luncheon meats (oz), fish and seafood (oz), beef, pork and lamb (oz), nuts and seeds (oz), soy (oz), and dry beans and peas (oz) weighted for weekday/weekend days and adjusted for within person variance, and age (yrs). Binary logistic regression was used to analyze the protein sources and whether children consuming protein intake within the age appropriate US Dietary Guidelines and Dietary Reference Intakes were less likely to screen positive for acanthosis. All models were adjusted for age, sex, overweight/obesity, energy intake (kcal) and mean total fat intake (oz).

<u>RESULTS</u>: There were 191 (5.5%) children that screened positively for acanthosis. The prevalence of acanthosis was higher in overweight and obese children than in healthy weight children (63.4% vs 35.6%). The total intake for protein was not significantly associated with acanthosis. However, for every 1 oz increase in intake of meat per day, the risk of acanthosis significantly increased by 16% (p= 0.009). Lean meat from meat, poultry, and fish (oz) was significantly associated with acanthosis (p= 0.000). Poultry and meat intake were no longer significantly associated with acanthosis in logistic regression models after controlling for confounding variables. However, for every 1 oz increase in fish and seafood intake the risk of acanthosis significantly increased by 22% (p=0.001). Mean total dairy intake had a protective effect against the risk of acanthosis, where for every $\frac{1}{2}$ serving increase in dairy, the risk decreased by 40% (p<0.001). There was no significant difference in acanthosis risk between children who consumed protein within the age appropriate Dietary Guidelines and Dietary Reference Intakes as compared to those who did not.

<u>CONCLUSION:</u> Total protein intake did not affect the likelihood of screening positive for acanthosis in young children from the United States Affiliated Pacific. However, meat intake, specifically from fish and seafood did increase the risk for having acanthosis while dairy consumption was shown to have a protective effect. Further study analyzing the different nutrient components of protein sources such as fish, seafood, and dairy sources are warranted.

Table of Contents

DEDICATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF IMAGES	viii
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Introduction	1
Acanthosis Nigricans Overview	I 2
Pre-diabetes Overview	2
Insulin Resistance Overview	
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Overview	
Methods for Screening Acanthosis	4
Dietary Guidelines and Recommendations	6
Diet and Insulin Resistance	
Protein and Insulin Resistance	
Methods for Assessing Diet	12
24-Hour Dietary Recall (24HR) Overview	12
Dietary Record (DR) Overview	
Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) Overview	
Dietary History	
Dietary Assessment in Children	
The Pacific Region	14
Physical Activity	
The Children's Healthy Living Program	
CHL Study Design and Schematics	
CHL Prevalence Study	
Problem Statement	
Research Objectives	20
CHAPTER 2: EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWI SOURCE AND ACANTHOSIS NIGRICANS AMONG YOUN CHILDREN'S HEALTHY LIVING PROGRAN IN THE UNI	EEN PROTEIN INTAKE AND NG CHILDREN IN THE ITED STATES AFFILIATED
PACIFIC	21
INTRODUCTION	21
METHODS	23
RESULTS	25
DISCUSSION	27

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	29
CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSION	
APPENDIX	32
REFERENCES	44

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Flow chart indicating the pathway and diagnostic criteria to type 2 diabetes mellitus i children.	in .32
Figure 2. The Children's Healthy Living Program model to prevent childhood obesity in the USAP ⁶¹	.33
Figure 3. Children's Healthy Living Program Study Design Schematic ⁶¹	.34

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Year of First Contact with Westerner's in the US Affiliated Pacific Islands ⁴⁸
Table 2. Characteristics of the study participants ages 2 - 8 years categorized by screening status (positive and negative) of acanthosis nigricans (acanthosis) ($n=3468$)
Table 3. Mean energy, fat, protein, dairy, and meat daily intake of study participants ages 2 - 8years categorized by screening status (positive and negative) of acanthosis nigricans (acanthosis)(n= 3468)
Table 4. Adjusted odds ratios for the association between acanthosis nigricans and fat, protein, dairy, and meat daily intake in study participants ages 2 - 8 years ($n=3468$)
Table 5. Adjusted odds ratios for the association between acanthosis nigricans and dietary guidelines or dietary reference intakes in study participants ages 2 - 8 years ($n=3468$)

LIST OF IMAGES

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

There are currently over 1.3 million Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders (NHOPI) residing in the United States, a 40% increase since 2000.¹ Up until 2000, the United States categorized American Asians and Pacific Islanders together as "Asian and Pacific Islanders". The NHOPI population was shown to have higher estimated mortality rates from cardiovascular disease, stroke and cancer than Asian Americans and therefore should no longer be categorized together. ² Due to significant health disparities between the two ethnic groups, American Asians lower rates have masked the severity of obesity and chronic diseases in the NHOPI population.² With this recent understanding, there is a growing need to analyze the NHOPI population's health.

Chronic diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and cancer are responsible for 7 out of 10 deaths per year and account for 86% of the health care costs in the United States.³ The 2010 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) found that about 42% of the NHOPI participants self-reported they were obese.⁴ The NHOPI population also has the highest age-adjusted percentage of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) amongst all racial groups with 20.6 % of the population diagnosed.⁵ Native Hawaiian men and women in a multiethnic prospective cohort study had the second highest mortality rates due to chronic diseases such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer, following closely behind African American men.⁶ With such prevalent rates of chronic disease and mortality in the NHOPI populations, prevention and early onset indicators are important in reducing morbidity rates.

Acanthosis Nigricans Overview

Acanthosis Nigricans (acanthosis) is a dermatological condition that is characterized by a symmetrical, velvety, light brown to black pigmentation of the skin observed in obese individuals.⁷ The exact prevalence of acanthosis in adults and children is unknown. Studies done in different regions of the world have all reported different prevalence rates. A study in New Mexico reported that the prevalence of acanthosis was 49.2% in obese adolescents compared with 7.7% in not obese adolescents ⁸ whereas the prevalence of acanthosis in Texas middle school children was about 7.1%.⁹ Acanthosis was first associated with cancer in the obese adult population and considered to be rare. Recently, acanthosis has become a comorbidity associated with obesity, insulin resistance, and hyperinsulinemia in children and adolescents.¹⁰ According to the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) the prevalence of obesity amongst youth aged 2-19y was 18.5% in 20015-2016, which is about 13.7 million adolescents and children per year.¹¹ Childhood obesity is a major concern because it leads to non-communicable diseases (NCD) that can carry on into adulthood - such as cancer, diabetes, and heart disease. With the rapid increase in childhood and adolescent obesity, acanthosis has become prevalent in the younger population as a key indicator and predictor of pre-diabetes.¹⁰

Pre-diabetes Overview

Pre-diabetes is a condition that comes before an individual develops T2DM when blood glucose levels are higher than normal but are not high enough to be considered T2DM. Individuals with pre-diabetes have fasting plasma glucose levels that are between 100 to 125 mg/dL or a Hemoglobin A1C level of 5.7- 6.4%.¹² According the American Diabetes Association (ADA), it is estimated that 33.9% of US adults (84.1 million people) aged 18 or older had pre-diabetes in 2015.¹³ Although no cure for T2DM exists, health professionals are able to detect pre-diabetes before diabetes develops. Unlike T2DM, pre-diabetes is reversible with early intervention and treatment. Early treatment and prevention methods can return blood glucose levels to the normal range of 70 to 100 mg/dL. Research shows that risk of T2DM can be significantly lowered by a healthy diet, losing body weight, and exercising.¹²

Insulin Resistance Overview

Insulin Resistance (IR) is a condition that can increase an individual's risk for developing T2DM. Insulin is a hormone made by the pancreas that assists in the transportation of blood glucose into body cells, where it is used as energy. Insulin resistance occurs when muscle, fat and liver cells do not respond well to insulin and cannot uptake blood glucose.¹⁴ In response to IR, beta cells in the pancreas will make more insulin to help glucose enter the body's cells. Individuals who have pre-diabetes usually have some IR occurring in the body as IR can keep blood glucose levels elevated.¹⁴ The homeostatic model of assessment (HOMA) is the most common way of detecting insulin resistance. HOMA involves measuring glucose and insulin levels and using both to estimate the function of the beta cells in the pancreas to produce insulin and insulin sensitivity.¹⁴

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Overview

T2DM occurs overtime as IR continues resulting in high blood glucose levels. With repeated exposure to high glucose levels in the bloodstream, beta cells are unable to produce enough insulin and the muscle, fat and tissue cells become starved for energy which, overtime can lead to damage of the eyes, kidneys, nerves and heart.¹² Traditionally, T2DM was diagnosed and seen in individual's ages 40 years or older with fasting glucose levels of 126 mg/dL or greater.¹² However, with the recent increase in obesity rates, T2DM is becoming more prevalent

in children with approximately 193,000 children and adolescents 20 years and younger diagnosed with this disease in 2017.¹²

Risk factors for T2DM are obesity, physical inactivity, race, and low socioeconomic status.¹⁵ Underprivileged areas with lower socioeconomic status have shown to have an increased prevalence of T2DM.¹⁶ According to the NHIS, the NHOPI population has higher poverty rates, lower incomes, lower educational attainment and larger families.² These risk factors put the NHOPI population at a greater risk for developing T2DM. Further studies addressing the NHOPI population are needed to prevent the increase in T2DM.

Current studies suggest obesity is significantly associated with the development of acanthosis and is the only predictive factor for acanthosis.¹⁷ The severity of acanthosis is also a predictor of the severity of obesity in an individual, where the greater severity of acanthosis, the greater obesity.¹⁷ Although acanthosis is not found in every obese individual, obese children with acanthosis have shown to have higher IR compared to those without.¹⁷ Obesity is associated with an increased risk of developing IR due to the adipose tissue releasing factors such as non-esterified fatty acids, glycerol, hormones and pro-inflammatory cytokines that are involved in the development of IR.¹⁸ Acanthosis has been found to reliably diagnose a subgroup of obese children with pre-diabetes. Figure 1 shows the relationship between obesity, acanthosis, IR, pre-diabetes, and T2DM.¹⁰

Methods for Screening Acanthosis

Acanthosis is a physical indicator on the skin that serves as a marker for insulin resistance.¹⁰ A study done by Kluczynik et al (2012) analyzed the association between the presence of acanthosis and the development of T2DM in overweight children and

adolescents. The cross-sectional study performed a variety of tests associated with diabetes such as IR to determine its relationship to acanthosis. The results showed that acanthosis was identified in 58% and IR in 42% of overweight children and adolescents.¹⁹ Based on these results, the authors concluded the presence of acanthosis was associated with being between 10-19 years of age, being a non-white girl and with the presence of IR.¹⁹ Koh et al (2016) examined the relationship between acanthosis and IR further to determine the severity of acanthosis as an index for predicting IR. The results of this study revealed that IR worsens with an increase of acanthosis severity.¹⁰ IR plays a pivotal role in the pathophysiology of developing T2DM.¹⁵ These findings stress the need for health professionals to be trained for acanthosis screening and identification.

With a significant relationship with IR and T2DM, proper screening for acanthosis can be important in early detection and possible reversal of IR. The detection and screening process of acanthosis is simple and non-invasive. Due to the visible skin pigment or discoloration usually located in and around a crease area, a health professional can easily detect acanthosis on an individual. Burke et al., (1999) developed an easy- to -use screening and severity scale for acanthosis. Acanthosis can be screened for on the neck, axilla, knuckles, elbows, and knees. The severity grading scale ranges from 0-4 with zero showing an absence of acanthosis in the specific area and increasing numerically to 4, showing a severe case of acanthosis with >6 inches of visible acanthosis. A score greater than or equal to 3 is considered a severe acanthosis to further indicate the severity of this condition. Scales ranging from 0-3 with zero having a smooth touch, and 4 showing coarseness with portions of the skin clearly raised above other areas.²⁰ In this qualitative screening tool, the higher numbers indicate the severity of acanthosis,

which is correlated with a worsened IR.¹⁰ Images 1 - 4 below are examples of the different screening severities of acanthosis.

Dietary Guidelines and Recommendations

In order to ensure that Americans are consuming a healthy, balanced and adequate diet, there are specific dietary guidelines and recommendations for healthy individuals. The Dietary Guidelines (DG) provides food-based recommendations for Americans who are more than 2 years old.²¹ These guidelines are updated every five years by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) with the purpose of helping health professionals and policymakers to advise Americans about healthy choices for their diet.²¹ MyPlate is a resource of the DG that offers information, messages and tools to help make healthy eating choices.²² Protein recommendations for MyPlate are 2 oz per day for children 2-3 years old and 4 oz per day for children 4-8 years old.²² The Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) is a general term that is used to assess nutrient intake in healthy people which varies by age and sex. Under the DRI, the Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) is the average daily level of intake sufficient to meet the nutrient requirements of nearly all healthy people.²³ The RDA for protein intake is 1.1g/kg per day for children ages 1-3 years old and 0.95 g/kg per day for children ages 4-8 years old. ²³ Also under the DRI, the Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range (AMDR) expresses intake recommendations as a percentage of total caloric intake.²³ The range of protein intake for children ages 1-3 years old is 5-20% of total caloric intake per day and 10-30% of total calories per day for children ages 4-8 vears old. ²³

Diet and Insulin Resistance

Diet is a modifiable factor that has been linked to IR. Current research has focused on high carbohydrate or fat diets and their relationship to IR.^{24, 25} Consumption of simple

carbohydrates like sugar-sweetened beverages have been shown to be associated with IR, whereas complex carbohydrates have resulted in opposite results.²⁶ High fat diets with excessive total fat intake, greater than 37% of daily energy, also increase IR in individuals.²⁷ High intakes of *trans* unsaturated fatty acids have shown to induce IR in individuals who are genetically predisposed when compared to other types of fat such as monounsaturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids and saturated fatty acids.²⁸

Protein and Insulin Resistance

Research has shown that short-term high protein diets are effective for weight loss in obese children.²⁹ Although this type of diet has been shown to significantly reduce weight, little is known on the long-term impacts of a high protein diet, especially in children, on IR. In order to assess the prevention methods of diabetes in adolescents and children, it is important to analyze the role that dietary protein plays in childhood obesity and IR.

Early identification of metabolic markers in children and adolescents are key to preventing chronic diseases such as diabetes. However, traditional risk factors for T2DM such as obesity, age and family history are weak predictors of changes in glucose tolerance and IR. Trico et al. conducted a cross sectional and longitudinal study to detect early metabolic features of IR and the effect on predicting glucose intolerance. The results revealed that elevated fasting alpha-hydroxybutyrate and branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) levels were associated with IR in youth ages 8 to 18 years old.³⁰ A similar study done by McCormack et al. (2012) evaluated the association between obese adolescents ages 8 to 18 years old with fasting concentrations of circulating BCAAs to determine if they were a predictor of future IR. This cross sectional study found that elevations in plasma BCAAs were significantly associated with obesity in youth.³¹ These results warrant for further investigation to determine the role of dietary proteins on plasma concentrations of BCAAs.

A randomized controlled study conducted with obese rats analyzed the effects of supplementation of BCAAs with a high fat diet. The first intervention group of rats fed a high fat diet gained the highest percent body weight after 13 weeks while the second intervention group, which was given the same high fat diet along with BCAA supplements, gained a slightly lower percent body weight.³² The control group was fed the standard chow and gained the least amount. The difference in body weight between the two intervention groups was due to different rates of food intake where the BCAA group consumed about on average 100 kcals less per week than the high fat and standard chow group. Although the BCAA supplementation group consumed fewer calories, the two intervention groups were equally IR. This experiment demonstrates that BCAAs contribute to the development of IR that is independent of bodyweight and kcal intake in rats.³²

Zheng et al. (2016) used a randomized controlled intervention study on adult men and women to examine the effect of weight-loss diets on long-term changes in plasma amino acids and the relationship with IR. This 2-year trial analyzed both BCAA's and aromatic amino acids (AAA) to determine which specific plasma amino acids played a role in IR. The results showed that the specific AAA tyrosine was significantly related to IR and, when plasma levels of tyrosine were low, IR decreased.³³ The study found that the diets with a lower amount of protein consumption, consisting of 15% of daily energy intake, had significantly stronger effects in reducing concentrations of diabetes-associated AAA tyrosine in comparison to the control.³³ These findings inform the relationship between protein and IR in adults but further studies examining children and adolescents are needed.

A high protein intake during the ages of 5 to 6 has been associated with a higher risk of obesity.³⁴ Voortman et al. (2016) furthered this line of research to determine if there was an association of protein intake in early childhood with metabolic insulin levels. This prospective cohort study concluded that protein intake in early childhood was linked to a high body fat percentage and insulin levels in 6-year-old girls but not in boys. Although the evidence in protein intake and IR remains unclear in children, there is evidence that dietary protein stimulates the secretion of insulin in adults.³⁵ A similar study done with adults was able to conclude that high total dietary protein consumption in both male and females was associated with an elevated risk in developing T2DM.³⁶ With differing results, more studies on children and adolescents are needed.

Currently, there are limited studies examining different protein sources and their relationship to IR in children and adolescents. One of the few studies done on children and adolescents by Hoppe et al. (2004) examined the protein intake from milk or meat in 8-year-old boys. This randomized control study analyzed the effect of a diet high in either skimmed milk or low fat meat for one week on insulin concentrations. This short-term study concluded that the milk-group had an increase in serum insulin concentrations, which caused IR to increase.³⁷ However, the meat-group did not show any increase in serum insulin and IR. Although this study found a significant relationship between IR and different animal protein products, the study period was too short to assess the long-term consequences of protein intake and sources on IR. A similar study done by Turner et al. (2015) analyzed the difference of dairy and red meat consumption over a four-week period. The results obtained showed IR in the group eating a high lean red meat diet while the group consuming high amounts of dairy had a decrease in IR.³⁸

Further research is needed to identify the long-term effect of high protein intake and different protein sources in children and adolescents.

Different protein sources have been studied in adults to determine the effect on IR. A study by Nielen et al. (2014) investigated the long-term effects of different types of protein sources on IR. In this prospective study, high consumption of animal protein was associated with a higher risk of T2DM, but the plant-based protein was not. Obese women who consumed high animal protein had the highest risk. Another similar study also done on adults analyzed the intake of animal and plant-based protein and drew the same conclusions.³⁹ Although these studies show the difference between animal and plant protein sources, analysis of different animal protein sources could have a different effect on IR.

A study conducted by Mandani et al. (2012) tested the effects of sardine protein and casein protein on IR in obese rats. The rats were fed a high fructose diet to induce a metabolic syndrome of hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension. The results of this randomized intervention study showed that rats given the sardine protein had significantly lower plasma glucose concentrations and IR than rats on the casein protein diet.⁴⁰ Although conducted on rats, this study informs the relationship between different protein sources and IR.

A study analyzed the relationship between meat intake and the occurrence of diabetes in adults. Vang et al. (2008) used a prospective cohort study to examine meat consumption, including the type, with T2DM risk. The study showed that men who were weekly consumers of all meats had a 74% increased risk for developing T2DM than men with a vegetarian diet. In addition, individuals who consumed any processed meats were 38% more likely to develop T2DM.⁴¹ This study suggests the possibility that meat intake, particularly processed meats, are a

dietary risk factor for T2DM in adults. A comparable cohort study done on women also examining the effects of different meat consumption concluded that diets high in processed meats increased the risk for developing T2DM.⁴²

Another study analyzed the effects of codfish protein compared to other animal proteins, and their effects on insulin sensitivity, on adults who already presented signs of IR.⁴³ The participants either consumed a high codfish protein diet or BPVEM diet containing lean beef, pork, veal, eggs, milk or milk products. 58-68% of the daily dietary protein came from either the cod fish or BPVEM proteins whereas the remaining protein consumption was from vegetables. The dietary cod protein group had improved IR while the BPVEM group did not.⁴³ Although both groups were consuming the same proportions of protein and other macronutrients, the BPVEM protein group contained a variety of different protein sources, which makes it difficult to conclude if a specific animal protein source contributed more to the results than other proteins. The study, however, does suggest the benefits of fish protein on improving insulin sensitivity.

While there is evidence that protein intake affects IR and the risk of T2DM, there is a lack of research on children and adolescents. The recent childhood obesity epidemic and the relationship between acanthosis and IR require further research regarding dietary protein consumption and its relationship with acanthosis. Because acanthosis is an early indicator of IR, understanding the dietary patterns that affect acanthosis and IR are crucial. This is especially true for populations such as the NHOPI that suffer a greater disparity for IR and T2DM in comparison to other populations.

Methods for Assessing Diet

Diet is a major lifestyle-risk factor for NCD diseases like T2DM. Methods used for assessing dietary intake can be helpful for prevention and treatment of many NCDs. Self-report dietary assessment methods are the most common and include the 24-hour dietary recall (24HR), dietary record (DR), dietary history, and food frequency questionnaire (FFQ).

24-Hour Dietary Recall (24HR) Overview

The 24HR is an open-ended method that collects detailed information about foods and the estimated amounts consumed over the previous 24-hours. Additional information about food preparation methods and ingredients used are also included, as needed (Shim, 2014). An advantage of this method is that there is a minimal burden placed on the respondent but the accuracy depends on the respondent's memory.

Dietary Record (DR) Overview

The DR is similar to the 24HR where the method also documents the consumption of food on specific days. The DR requires participants to record (self or surrogate) at the time food is consumed. This minimizes the reliance on the participant's memory but requires the respondents to be literate and trained before recording.

Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) Overview

The FFQ is a questionnaire containing foods and/or amounts representing primary foods of interest to a practitioner or researcher. A FFQ requires recall of frequency and in some cases, portion sizes over a specific time period (e.g. the previous 12 months) and can be selfadministered. The FFQ enables the assessment of long-term dietary intakes to be simple, costeffective, and time-efficient.⁴⁴ However, the FFQ requires that the foods on the FFQ be validated for the race/ethnic population under study.

Dietary History

Dietary history is a detailed retrospective method of diet assessment that is used to describe usual food or nutrient intake over a specific period of time and consists of three parts. A skilled professional conducts an interview to estimate the habitual consumptions of foods and portion sizes which can be done by a 24 HR. Following this interview, a food frequency questionnaire is completed to verify the frequency of food consumption. Lastly, a 3 day dietary record is completed ⁴⁵. Although this method can be very accurate; there is a burden on the participant and requires highly skilled professionals to collect the information.

Dietary Assessment in Children

Dietary assessment is crucial in examining the nutritional status of a child. However, it can be difficult due to the lack of familiarity among children concerning foods and ingredients. Typically, in younger populations, parents or guardians will complete dietary assessments such as an FFQ, 24HR, or DR. Recent studies show that dietary records are useful and valid in assessing energy and nutrient intake in toddlers.⁴⁶ This, however, may also lead to inaccuracy because the parent or guardian is not with the child at all times. Cheng, 2013 found that parents and caregivers were also more likely to overestimate food or beverages in their child's dietary record than underestimate and it is important to take into consideration that family and child characteristics may impact the reporting error.

The Pacific Region

The islands located in the Pacific Region referred to as Oceania, consists of approximately 10,000 tropical islands and extends between Asia and America. The region of Oceania is divided into 3 sub-regions know as Polynesia, Melanesia, and Micronesia.⁴⁷ The indigenous people of Oceania are referred to as the Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islanders today. Due to the vast geography of Oceania, NHOPI's from different islands faced contact with European or Westerners at different time points. For example, Pohnpei, an island state of the Federated States of Micronesia, first contact with the Spaniards occurred in 1526.⁴⁸ Table 1. Identifies the year in which first contact was made by Westerners in the islands located in Oceania.

Records from early Westerners along with indigenous oral histories indicated that the NHOPI populations were healthy and hardy individuals.⁴⁹ However, within the last 2 decades the NHOPI populations health has dramatically shifted to one of the highest incidence of preventable chronic diseases in the world such as diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.⁵⁰ These health outcomes of the NHOPI population are attributed to a multitude of complex factors. The colonization and westernization in the Pacific Region adversely affected many of the social, cultural, and economical traditions that once supported the health of the indigenous people.

NHOPI population are also more likely to have higher poverty rates, lower income, larger families, and lower educational status.² According to the 2015 Census Bureau report, 17.3% of NHOPI were living in poverty in comparison to 10.4% of non-Hispanic whites. NHOPI's also have lower education attainments with 28% of the population containing a bachelor's degree or

higher compared to Whites with 47% containing a bachelor's degree or higher.¹ These socioeconomic factors have contributed to the decline in NHOPI's health.

The NHOPI populations that have continued to reside in the region have gone through a significant nutrition transition that is related to their decline in population health.⁵¹ Pre-colonized NHOPI diets consisted of fresh fruits, vegetables, and fish but recent research has shown that their diets now largely consist of processed meats and fast foods.⁵² Processed and fast foods are low-cost goods that appeal to the lower income NHOPI households. Along with economic issues, colonization of the Pacific Islands has affected the food supply in other ways. For example, the Marshall Islands was used by the United States for nuclear weapons testing on their atolls in the 1940's until 1950's. Due to the radioactive contamination from the nuclear bombing, the islanders are no longer able to practice their traditional diets but instead rely on imported foods.⁵³ This high demand for low cost meats in the Pacific Islands has led to an excess amount of imports of high fat mutton flaps, turkey tails, chicken backs, and Spam® from countries like the United States, New Zealand and Australia.⁵⁴

The NHOPI that have adopted a diet high in meat and processed meat, and are now at a much greater risk for developing T2DM.⁵⁵ Large multi-cohort studies done found that dietary patterns high in fat and meat were linked to increased diabetes risk in the NHOPI and other minority populations such as Japanese Americans.^{55,56} NHOPI populations coming from a lower socio-economic status are making imported processed foods a part of their diet.⁵⁴ Investigating the relationship between processed meats and health outcomes has been done in adults but due to the recent epidemic in childhood diseases, further studies on children and adolescents are needed.

Physical Activity

Although race and dietary factors play a role in the increased risk for T2DM, lifestyle factors like physical activity are also important. With prevalence levels of obesity, T2DM, and heart disease increasing among the NHOPI populations, weight loss through physical activity has been clinically helpful in preventing and lowering the risk for these diseases.⁵⁷ Grandinetti et al. (2007) examined multi-ethnic adults in Hawai'i to determine if physical activity played a role in IR. The study found that an increased heart rate and low levels of physical activity were independently associated with IR.⁵⁸ Amongst NHOPI, few studies are currently available that have examined physical activity and its association with IR. However, one pilot study on Samoan college-aged women found an associated between sedentary, low physical activity level with higher body fat percentage.⁵⁹

The Children's Healthy Living Program

The Children's Healthy Living Program for Remote Underserved Minority Populations in the Pacific Region (CHL) is a partnership in the United States Affiliated Pacific (USAP) that's mission is to build and sustain a healthy food and physical environment to help maintain weight and prevent obesity among young children in the Pacific region.⁶⁰ The USAP region includes Hawai'i, Alaska, American Samoa (AS), Commonwealth of Northern Marianas (CMNI), Guam, the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM), the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) and the Republic of Palau. Through a combination of efforts, CHL had the following objectives: 1) Conduct program/data inventories and situational analysis; 2) Train 22 public health nutrition workers in obesity prevention; 3) Develop a Pacific food, nutrition, and physical activity data management and evaluation system; 4) Develop and conduct a community-based environmental intervention to prevent, maintain, or reduce childhood obesity; 5) Evaluate the environmental intervention; 6) Incur at least one obesity prevention policy change per jurisdiction. To address the child obesity epidemic in the Pacific, CHL was a multi-dimensional strategy of environmental changes to promote healthy food intake and physical activity in children ages 2-8 years old in the USAP to prevent childhood obesity, as seen in Figure 2. CHL was sponsored by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Agriculture and Food Research Initiative grant number 2011-68001-30335. CHL continues its mission as the CHL Center of Excellence (CHL Center) funded by the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Agriculture and Food Research Institute Grant no. 2018-69001-27551.

CHL Study Design and Schematics

Children 2 to 8 years old were recruited from 51 communities. The communities were chosen for CHL based on four criteria; census data for a population >1000, relative accessibility and representativeness, having >25% of the population of indigenous/native descent (15% in Alaska due to focus on accessible communities), and having >10% of the population under age $10.^{61}$

Communities in Alaska, American Samoa, CNMI, Guam and Hawai'i were selected to participate in the intervention trial. Only 2 communities in Alaska were selected due to large distances between sites while 4 communities were selected in the remaining 4 jurisdictions. Each community was matched to form intervention and control pairs based on percentage in poverty and population density based on U.S. census data, distance from urban cities, and percentage of overweight/obesity, if available. From each pair, one community was randomly assigned to an intervention group while the other to a delayed optimized intervention. The intervention study was assessed for outcomes at baseline and a follow up at 24 months. An additional 2 communities were selected to serve as temporal indicators of anthropometry status. The Freely Associated States of Micronesia which includes FSM, the Republic of Palau, and RMI along with the temporal communities did not receive the intervention but were included in the baseline measurements, see Figure 3.

CHL Prevalence Study

The purpose of the CHL Prevalence study was to estimate the prevalence of obesity and acanthosis among young children in the USAP.⁶² A total of 27 communities were selected from the CHL Intervention study jurisdictions and 24 communities were selected for the CHL Prevalence study. A total of 5775 children participated in the CHL Prevalence Study with 4488 children from the baseline of the CHL intervention study and 1287 children from the Prevalence study.

Anthropometric measurements of height and weight were taken and Body Mass Index (BMI) categories were defined by the Center of Disease Control reference BMI percentile data according to age and sex.⁶² Within this population 14% were classified as obese, 14.4% as overweight, 68.9% healthy and 2.6% underweight. Obesity significantly differed by age group with 12.9% in the 2-5 years old and 16.3 % in the 6 to 8-year-olds. The prevalence of acanthosis was 4.7% with a majority scored at 1 (60.3%), 20.8% had a score of 2, 12.2% a score of 3 and 6.8% a score of 4, based on the Burke screening scale.¹¹ The study also found that obesity was highly associated with acanthosis with the strongest relationships demonstrated in Asians, then in Native Hawaiians, and then in other Pacific Islanders.

This CHL study, which is the only study of its kind on young children in the USAP with a high proportion of NHOPI, suggests that acanthosis may represent an important indicator of early metabolic change. With an increase in obesity rates with age, the data suggests that these children will have a higher risk for developing T2DM. The early detection of acanthosis in a population at higher risk is crucial in preventing and treating the childhood T2DM epidemic. Given the relationship between childhood obesity and acanthosis, established by Novotny, et al 2016, further research is needed to examine lifestyle factors that may be influencing this relationship. Evidence suggests that protein intake and sources may influence IR. As acanthosis is a risk factor for IR and T2DM, examining the association between dietary protein and acanthosis will be important in understanding the recent increase of health disparities in NHOPI children.

Problem Statement

Based on the results of this literature review, the aim of this thesis is to examine the relationship between dietary protein intake and the risk of acanthosis in children ages 2-8 years old. Due to the high risk for T2DM in NHOPI, it is critical to examine early detection methods and possible factors associated with the disease.¹¹Acanthosis is an early warning sign of T2DM that can indicate a need for lifestyle changes such as dietary behavior modification. With previous studies suggesting that high fat meats and processed meats increase the risk of IR, this thesis hypothesizes the following:

- Children who consume a diet characterized by low fat protein sources are less likely to have acanthosis.
- Children who consume dietary protein within current dietary guidelines recommendations will be at a lower risk of having acanthosis than children exceeding dietary guidelines for protein.

3. Children who consume dietary protein within current dietary reference intakes recommendations will be at a lower risk of having acanthosis than children exceeding DRI.

Research Objectives

The primary objective of this study is to determine if the presence of acanthosis nigricans (acanthosis) is related to dietary protein consumption among children in the United States Affiliated Pacific. The secondary objectives are to 1) Examine the relationship between different protein sources and the presence of acanthosis. 2) Determine the relationship between protein consumption within the age specific US Dietary Guidelines and Dietary Recommended Intakes and the presence of acanthosis in young children from the USAP.

CHAPTER 2: EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PROTEIN INTAKE AND SOURCE AND ACANTHOSIS NIGRICANS AMONG YOUNG CHILDREN IN THE CHILDREN'S HEALTHY LIVING PROGRAN IN THE UNITED STATES AFFILIATED PACIFIC

This is a draft of the article that will be submitted to the Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (JAND) and is included here as chapter two.

Calabrese, A., Fialkowski, M., Boushey, C., Davis, J., Leon Guerrero, R., Novotny, R. (2019). "Examining the relationship between protein intake and source and acanthosis nigricans among young children in the children's healthy living program in the united states affiliated pacific." Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics.

INTRODUCTION

This thesis includes the following chapters: a literature review, a manuscript that will be submitted for publication, and a conclusion.

Acanthosis Nigricans (acanthosis) is a dermatological condition that is characterized by a dark hyperpigmentation of the skin. The exact prevalence of acanthosis is unknown with studies showing different prevalence rates in different regions of the world.^{8,9} Acanthosis is a comorbidity associated with obesity, insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia in children and adolescents (Koh, 2016).¹⁰ Insulin resistance overtime may lead to the development of Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Traditionally, T2DM was diagnosed and seen in individuals ages 40 years or over. However, recent increases in childhood and adolescent obesity has increased the prevalence of T2DM in children and adolescents. ¹²

Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders (NHOPI) are the indigenous and primary ethnic groups of the US Affiliated Pacific region (USAP). Within the past 2 decades, the NHOPI population's health has dramatically shifted to one of the highest incidences of preventable chronic diseases in the world. ⁵⁰ These chronic diseases include diabetes, hypertension,

cardiovascular disease and cancer. Although these health disparities are extensive in the NHOPI populations, there is limited research available on the prevalence of acanthosis and obesity in childhood and adolescents.

Previous research has focused on the relationship between high carbohydrate and fat diets and acanthosis in children. ^{24,25} High protein consumption in children has been found to be associated with insulin resistance.³⁴ However, there are no studies analyzing the association between protein intake and acanthosis in children.

The Children's Healthy Living Program (CHL) is a partnership in the USAP that implemented a community randomized intervention trial and a prevalence survey to address childhood obesity in the region.⁶¹ The CHL Prevalence Study (including the baseline of the trial) estimated the prevalence of obesity and acanthosis among young children ages 2-8 years old in the USAP. ⁶² The prevalence of acanthosis was 4.7% while the prevalence of obesity was 14.0%. Obesity was highly associated with acanthosis with the strongest relationships demonstrated in Asians, then in Native Hawaiians and then in Pacific Islanders. Diet data was collected from both CHL intervention and prevalence studies; however, there are no publications analyzing the relationship of acanthosis to protein intake.

The purpose of this study was to determine if children's protein intake affects the likelihood of having acanthosis in the USAP. Data were collected by the CHL Program in following USAP jurisdictions: Hawai'i, Alaska, Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, Guam, American Samoa, Palau, Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI), 4 Federated States of Micronesia (Pohnpei, Yap, Kosrae, Chuuk).⁶¹

METHODS

Study Design and Settings

This study is a secondary analysis of cross-sectional data from the CHL Prevalence Study of children ages 2 to 8 years old from 51 communities in the 11 United States Affiliate Pacific (USAP) jurisdictions (Alaska, American Samoa, Commonwealth of the Northern Marianas, Guam, Hawai^ci, Palau, Pohnpei, Yap, Chuuk, Kosrae, and the Republic of the Marshall Islands). The communities were chosen for CHL based on four criteria; census data for a population >1000, relative accessibility and representativeness, having >25% of the population of indigenous/native descent (15% in Alaska due to focus on accessible communities), and having >10% of the population under age 10. ³⁴

A total of 5775 children participated in the CHL Prevalence Study. To be included in this analysis participants needed to have completed acanthosis nigricans screening and dietary data collection. The goal for the dietary data collection was 66% of the total sample. ³⁴ Therefore, 3486 participants were included in this analysis.

Data Sources/ Measurements:

Anthropometry

Height and weight were measured using standardized protocols. ^{61,63} Body mass index (BMI) was calculated (kg/m²) and overweight/obese was defined using sex- and age-specific BMI cut-points from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Growth Charts. ⁶⁴

Acanthosis Nigricans

Acanthosis screening was conducted based on the Burke's quantitative scale from 0 to 4.²⁰ Participants' necks were examined for the presence of acanthosis and converted into a bivariate variable for analysis as positive (1-4) and negative (0).

Dietary Intake

Food logs (i.e. dietary records) were collected in order to assess total energy, nutrients, and food group intakes of the child. The dietary records were combined with an activity log, referred to as the Food and Activity Log (FAL). The FAL was completed by a surrogate (e.g., parent/caregiver) over 2 randomly assigned non-consecutive days, which included one weekday and one weekend. Surrogates were instructed on record keeping techniques with food model aids, service ware, and utensils. Tool kits of calibrated utensils and a Ziploc bag to place food wrappers, labels, and packages were provided for each child.⁶¹

Questionnaires

Questionnaires were completed by the surrogates to assess the child's demographics such as age, race/ethnicity, sex, household composition, education level and income of the parent/caregiver, household food security, religion, general health status, and early life feeding behaviors. ⁶¹

Statistical Methods:

IBM SPSS Version 24 was used for the analysis. Pearson Chi-Square tests were used to determine the relationship between the positive and negative acanthosis screening groups with overweight/obesity and dietary intake (energy intake [kcal] and protein [g]). One-way ANOVA was conducted to determine the relationship between acanthosis and total energy intake (kcal),

mean protein (g), fat (g) and dairy (servings) intake of the two days weighted for weekday/weekend, mean meat (oz) intake and lean meat equivalents from egg (oz), poultry (oz), franks and luncheon meats (oz), fish and seafood (oz), beef, pork and lamb (oz), nuts and seeds (oz), soy (oz), and dry beans and peas (oz) weighted for weekday/weekend days and adjusted for within person variance, and age (yrs). The likelihood of acanthosis being associated with protein or meat intakes was examined using binary logistic regression adjusting for age, sex, overweight/obesity, energy intake (kcal) and mean fat intake (g). Binary logistic regression was also used in determining whether children who consumed protein within the US Dietary Guidelines and Dietary Reference Intakes were less likely to screen positive for acanthosis. Odds ratios and 95% CI were the reported statistics from the analysis.

Hunan Studies:

Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Guam and the Committee on Human Studies at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa obtained human studies approval. The other participating jurisdictions relinquished IRB approval to the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa. Parents gave consent for child participation and children gave assent before measurements were taken. Participants were compensated for their time and participation.

RESULTS

Table 2, shows that a little over 5% of children screened positively for acanthosis. Approximately half of both groups were males. Children who screened positively for acanthosis were more likely to be in the overweight and obese categories (P=0.000, Table 2) with a prevalence over 60%. Those children who screened negative for acanthosis were more likely to be in the underweight and healthy weight categories. Children who screened positive were more likely to be older in age.

The mean daily intake of protein was similar for cases and non-cases (see Table 3). However, statistically significant differences were observed between cases and non-cases for dairy, meat, egg, and the combined meat, poultry, and fish intake. Mean energy, protein, and fat intake were not significantly different between cases and non-cases. Lean meat equivalents from nuts and seeds, soy and dry beans and peas were also not significantly different.

Further investigation using binary logistic regression models was performed to determine the effects of intakes of different protein sources on the likelihood of the individuals screening positive for acanthosis after adjusting for sex, overweight/obesity, energy intake (kcal), and mean total fat intake. The results confirm that there was not a significant association between acanthosis and mean protein intake (Table 4). However, for every 1 oz increase in mean meat intake there was a 16% significant increase in risk for being positively screened for acanthosis. There was also a 21% increased risk for acanthosis for every 1 oz increase of mean meat, poultry, and fish intake. There were no differences in acanthosis risk among mean frank and luncheon meats, mean beef, pork and lamb, and mean poultry intake. There was a positive association between mean fish and other seafood intake and the risk of acanthosis with a 22% increase in risk for every 1 oz intake. Mean total dairy intake had a protective effect against the risk of acanthosis, where for every ¹/₂ serving increase in dairy, the risk decreased by 40%.

Binary logistic regression models were performed to determine if children who consumed protein within the US Dietary Guidelines (which for protein foods is 2 oz equivalents for ages 1-3 and 4 oz equivalents for ages 4-8 per day) and Dietary Reference Intakes (Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range [AMDR] for protein is: 5-20% of total kcals for ages 1-3 and 10-30% of total kcals for ages 4-8; the Recommended Dietary Allowance [RDA] for protein is 1.1 g/kg of body weight for ages 1-3 and 0.9 g/kg body weight for ages 4-8) would be less likely to screen positive for acanthosis. The results show that there was no significant difference in acanthosis risk between children who consumed protein within the age appropriate US Dietary Guidelines or the Dietary Reference Intakes and those who did not (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

Protein intake as estimate in grams consumed per day was not shown to be significantly related to the likelihood of screening positive for acanthosis. These findings conflict with Voortman et al.who conducted a prospective cohort study and concluded that high protein intake in early childhood was associated with a high body fat percentage and insulin levels in 6-year-old girls but not in boys when adjusting for energy intake. However, a similar study done on adults concluded that high dietary protein consumption in both male and females was associated with an elevated risk in developing T2DM. ³⁶

Plant-based protein sources such as soy, beans, nuts and peas were not found to significantly influence the risk for screening positive for acanthosis. This is similar to previous research which found no association between intake of plant-based proteins and the risk of acanthosis or IR. ^{36,39} These results are surprising as previous research has found that plant based proteins have been found to be protective to other diseases related to IR and acanthosis such as obesity. ⁶⁵

Interestingly, an inverse relationship between dairy intake and acanthosis was found in this study. This is in congruence to findings from a randomized intervention study by Turner et al. where high dairy intake decreased risk for insulin resistance. Acanthosis is a physical indicator on the body that appears to be a marker for IR and the IR worsens with an increase of acanthosis severity.¹⁰ Kluczynik et al. conducted a cross-sectional study to analyze the association between the presence of acanthosis and T2DM. The results showed that acanthosis was identified in 58% and IR in 42% of the population with T2DM. Based on these results, dairy intake can be a preventative dietary component to decreasing the risk for acanthosis and IR. Potential underlying mechanisms that may play a role in the protective factor of dairy include other dietary components such as calcium, vitamin D, and dairy fat.⁶⁶

Contrary to previous research where meat intake was associated with IR in children^{37,38,41} and increased the risk of T2DM and IR in adults^{38,41}, red meats, and processed meats like franks and luncheon meats showed no relationship with acanthosis in children. In contrast, research published examining the relationship between dietary fish protein and IR found an inverse relationship between the two.^{40,43} In this study, for every 1 oz increase in fish and other seafood intake, the risk of screening positive for acanthosis increased by 22%. Further investigation is warranted to determine if there are specific types of fish and seafood that increase the risk of screening positive for acanthosis. The different nutrient compositions in which fish and seafood are comprised of may be associated with this relationship.

Protein consumption within the DG and DRI's were shown to have no significant relationship with screening positive for acanthosis compared to those exceeding the guidelines. To the authors knowledge, there are no studies analyzing this relationship.

The strengths of this study lie in its relatively large sample size of the USAP region. A limitation with this study is the quantitative scale used to measure acanthosis across the USAP.

Acanthosis was determined by trained professionals by examining the necks of the participants from different ethnic groups with varying skin tones. Novotny et al. (2015) proposed that higher proportions of acanthosis screened in level 1 category could be due to those populations having darker skin tones. Another limitation was that dietary intake for the children was reported by a surrogate. This cross-sectional study does not determine cause and effect but instead analyzes potential risk factors that may increase the risk of screening positive for acanthosis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the CHL Program across the United States Affiliated Pacific who conducted data collection and data entry. The support of the Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Grant no. 2011- 68001-30335 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agricultural Science Enhancement Coordinated Agricultural Program is also acknowledged.

CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSION

This study examined if the presence of acanthosis is related to protein consumption and different protein sources in young children from the United States Affiliated Pacific (USAP). This is a cross-sectional study was the first to evaluate the relationship between protein consumption and source in young children with acanthosis from the USAP. Additionally, this is was the first study to evaluate dietary protein intakes within the age appropriate US Dietary Guidelines (DG) and Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) of young children ages 2-8 years old.

Total protein intake as estimated in grams consumed per day and plant-based protein sources (nuts, seeds, soy, beans and peas) as estimated in ounces consumed per day were not risk factors for children who screen positive for acanthosis. However, the mean meat consumption per day as estimated in ounces increased the risk for acanthosis. Further investigations into the mean meat intake variable showed that lean meat from meat, poultry and fish intake estimated in ounces per day increased the risk of acanthosis where other meat sources such as franks and luncheon meats, beef, pork and lamb did not. Individual lean meat variables poultry and eggs estimated in ounces per day were not risk factors for children with acanthosis. Interesting, lean meats from fish and seafood did increase the risk for screening positive for acanthosis in children. Dairy intake estimated in servings was shown to have a protective factor against acanthosis. This study also found that there was no significant association with acanthosis in children who consumed dietary protein within the age appropriate US DG and DRIs as compared to those who exceeded it.

These results underline the significance of considering different dietary protein sources and nutrient composition of foods when analyzing the relationship between acanthosis and diet in the USAP. The Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islanders (NHOPI) populations located in the USAP have gone through a significant health transition in the past two decades with the highest age-adjusted percentage of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) amongst all racial groups.⁴ Diet is a modifiable factor that has been linked to IR and the development of T2DM. ^{12,24} Despite the health disparities that the NHOPI communities face, there is a lack of scientific research published analyzing the relationship between different diet components and the development of T2DM in NHOPI. Acanthosis is a visual indicator on the skin for IR that can potentially lead to the development of T2DM.¹⁰ Therefore, it is important that future research pertaining to T2DM focuses on the risk factors of acanthosis to hopefully prevent T2DM. Identifying risk factors for acanthosis in NHOPIs can aid in implementing interventions to potentially reverse acanthosis.

This study has scratched the surface of the influence that dietary protein sources have on the young children with the presence of acanthosis. Future research analyzing the different nutrient composition of protein sources such as fish, seafood, and dairy are needed. Potential nutrient components needed to be analyzed further is the role of different fatty acids and tyrosine levels in IR. Previous research has found that specific fatty acids such as trans- palmitoleic acid have shown to be protective against type 2 diabetes. ⁶⁶ Whereas the aromatic amino acid tyrosine has been significantly related to IR in that when plasma levels of tyrosine were low, IR decreased.³³ Protein sources with high levels of tyrosine include cheese, peanuts, pork, and chicken.⁶⁷ Next steps may include analyzing the tyrosine content in these protein sources to determine if consumption of high tyrosine sources decrease the risk of screening positive for acanthosis in young children from the USAP.

APPENDIX

Figure 1. Flow chart indicating the pathway and diagnostic criteria to type 2 diabetes mellitus in children



Figure 2. The Children's Healthy Living Program model to prevent childhood obesity in the USAP⁶¹





Pacific Island	Year
Hawaiʻi	1778*
American Samoa	1722
The Federated States of Micronesia	1526
Guam	1521
Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands	1521

Table 1. Year of First Contact with Westerner's in the US Affiliated Pacific Islands⁴⁸

*First contact may have occurred earlier

		Negative (n=3277)	Positive (n= 191)	
		n (%)		
Sex	Male	1665 (50.8%)	97 (50.8%)	
	Female	1612 (49.1%)	94 (49.2%)	
BMI category ^a	Underweight	97 (2.9%)*	1 (0.5%)*	
	Healthy weight	2379 (72.5%)***	68 (35.6%)***	
	Overweight/obese	801 (24.4%)***	122 (63.8%)***	
		Mean (sd)		
Age (years)		5.02 (1.64)***	5.57 (1.64)***	
- 0.05				

Descriptive

*P≤ 0.05
**P≤ 0.01
***P≤ 0.001
^a BMI Categories was defined using sex- and age-specific BMI cut-points from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Growth Charts. BMI cut-points include: Underweight: less than the 5th percentile; Normal weight: 5th percentile to less than the 85th percentile; Overweight/Obese: 85th percentile or higher.

Acanthosis

Table 3. Mean energy, fat, protein, dairy, and meat daily intake of study participants ages 2 - 8 years categorized by screening status (positive and negative) of acanthosis nigricans (acanthosis) (n = 3468)

Acanthosis

Negative (n=3277) Positive (n= 191)

Mean (sd)

Mean energy intake (kcal) ^b	1770.73 (673.33)	1777.17 (610.45)
Mean total fat intake (g) ^b	62.32 (31.28)	62.10 (30.03)
Mean protein intake (g) ^b	68.04 (27.98)	69.91(25.08)
Mean kcals from protein (%)	15.58 (0.06)	15.96 (0.27)
Mean protein servings (oz)	2.40 (0.98)	2.46 (0.88)
Total dairy intake (servings) ^b	1.20 (0.98)***	0.98 (0.68)***
Mean meat intake (oz) ^c	6.77 (7.82)**	6.96 (3.91)**
Lean meat equivalent from Egg (oz) ^c	0.39 (0.33)*	0.45 (0.41)*
Lean meat from meat, poultry, and fish $(oz)^{c}$	4.69 (1.76)***	5.21 (1.64)***
Lean meat from Franks and Luncheon meat $(oz)^{c}$	0.82 (0.80)	0.91 (0.91)
Lean meat from Beef, pork and lamb (oz) ^c	0.73 (0.67)	0.77 (0.75)
Lean meat from poultry (oz) ^c	0.99 (0.79)	1.04 (0.81)
Lean meat from Fish and other seafood $(oz)^{c}$	0.87 (1.14)	0.99 (1.03)
Lean meat equivalent from nuts/seeds (oz) ^c	1.12 (2.51)	0.80 (1.45)
Lean meat equivalent from soy (oz) ^c	0.21(0.03)	0.019 (0.02)
Lean meat equivalent from dry bean and pea (servings) ^c	0.00 (0.02)	0.00 (0.03)

 $*P \le 0.05$

P≤0.01 *P≤0.001

^b Weighted for weekend and weekdays

° Weighted for weekend and weekdays and adjusted for within person variance

Table 4. Adjusted odds ratios for the association between acanthosis nigricans and fat, protein, dairy, and meat daily intake in study participants ages 2 - 8 years (n=3468)

Variables ^b	В	S.E.	OR	95% CI	Р
Mean protein intake (g) ^b	-0.008	0.00	0.92	(0.98-1.00)	0.163
Total dairy intake (servings) ^b	-0.614	0.123	0.541	(0.42-0.68)	0.000***
Mean meat intake (oz) ^c	0.165	0.03	1.17	(1.09-1.27)	0.000***
Lean meat equivalent from Egg (oz) ^c	0.386	0.22	1.47	(0.94-2.29)	0.089
Lean Meat from meat, poultry, and fish (oz) ^c	0.217	0.056	1.24	(1.11-1.38)	0.000***
Lean Meat from Franks and Luncheon meat (oz) ^c	0.180	0.104	1.19	(0.97-1.46)	0.083
Lean Meat from Beef, pork and lamb $^{\rm c}$	-0.174	0.11	0.84	(0.67-1.05)	0.129
Lean meat from poultry (oz) ^c	-0.026	0.098	0.97	(0.80-1.18)	0.793
Lean Meat from Fish and other seafood (oz) ^c	0.224	0.067	1.25	(1.09-1.42)	0.001***
Lean meat equivalent from nuts/seeds (oz) ^c	-0.052	0.052	0.950	(0.85-1.05)	0.321
Lean meat equivalent from soy (oz) ^c	-0.774	2.374	0.461	(0.00-48.33)	0.744
Lean meat equivalent from dry bean and pea (servings) ^c	-2.05	2.956	0.128	(0.00- 42.10)	0.487

 $P \le 0.05$ **P ≤ 0.01

***P≤0.001

^b Weighted for weekend and weekdays ^c Weighted for weekend and weekdays and adjusted for within person variance ^dAll variables were adjusted for age, sex, overweight/obesity, energy intake (kcal), and mean total fat intake

Table 5. Adjusted odds ratios for the association between acanthosis nigricans and dietary guidelines or dietary reference intakes in study participants ages 2 - 8 years (n = 3468)

Variables ^d	В	S.E.	OR	95% CI	Р
RDA	567	0.46	0.56	0.22-1.4	0.228
AMDR (2-3y)	-1.02	0.58	0.37	0.11-1.13	0.082
AMDR (4-8y)	0.03	0.43	1.03	0.43-2.42	0.940
MyPlate (2-3y)	-0.556	0.43	0.57	0.24-1.34	0.201
MyPlate (4-8y)	0.001	0.29	1.00	0.55-1.79	0.998

 $\label{eq:product} \begin{array}{l} *P \leq 0.05 \\ **P \leq 0.01 \\ ***P \leq 0.001 \\ {}^{d} \mbox{All variables were adjusted for age, sex, overweight/obesity, energy intake (kcal), and mean total fat intake \end{array}$

Image 1 Scale of Acanthosis Nigricans (Acanthosis) Class 1 Indicating that Acanthosis is Present on Close Inspection but the Extent is Not Measurable. (courtesy of M. Okihiro)





Image 2. Scale of Acanthosis Nigricans Class 2 Indicating that Acanthosis Does Not Extend to the Lateral Neck Margins and is <3 Inches from One Side to Another (Image courtesy of M. Okihiro)

Image 3. Scale of Acanthosis Nigricans Class 3 Indicating that Acanthosis Extends to the Lateral Margins of the Neck Between 3-6 Inches Wide but is Not Visible from the Front (Image Courtesy of M. Okihiro)

Image 4. Scale of Acanthosis Nigricans Class 4 Indicating that Acanthosis is Visible from the Front and Usually Larger than 6 Inches Wide (Image Courtesy of M. Okihiro)



REFERENCES

- Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander The Office of Minority Health. https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=3&lvlid=65. Accessed February 15, 2019.
- 2. Taualii M. Self-Rated Health Status Comparing Pacific Islanders to Asians. 2007;1(2):10.
- 3. FastStats. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/deaths.htm. Published November 26, 2018. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- 4. Bacong AM, Holub C, Porotesano L. Comparing Obesity-Related Health Disparities among Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, Asians, and Whites in California: Reinforcing the Need for Data Disaggregation and Operationalization. *Hawaii J Med Public Health*. 2016;75(11):337-344.
- 5. Cook WK, Chung C, Ve'e T. The Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum (APIAHF) influences policy, mobilizes communities, and strengthens programs and organizations to improve the health of Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders. :44.
- 6. Henderson SO, Haiman CA, Wilkens LR, Kolonel LN, Wan P, Pike MC. Established risk factors account for most of the racial differences in cardiovascular disease mortality. *PLoS ONE*. 2007;2(4):e377. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000377
- 7. Hermanns-Lê T, Scheen A, Piérard GE. Acanthosis nigricans associated with insulin resistance : pathophysiology and management. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. 2004;5(3):199-203. doi:10.2165/00128071-200405030-00008
- 8. Mukhtar Q, Cleverley G, Voorhees RE, McGrath JW. Prevalence of acanthosis nigricans and its association with hyperinsulinemia in New Mexico adolescents. *J Adolesc Health*. 2001;28(5):372-376.
- 9. Stuart CA, Pate CJ, Peters EJ. Prevalence of acanthosis nigricans in an unselected population. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 1989;87(3):269-272. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(89)80149-4
- Koh YK, Lee JH, Kim EY, Moon KR. Acanthosis Nigricans as a Clinical Predictor of Insulin Resistance in Obese Children. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr.* 2016;19(4):251-258. doi:10.5223/pghn.2016.19.4.251
- Childhood Obesity Facts | Overweight & Obesity | CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html. Published August 14, 2018. Accessed October 19, 2018.
- 12. Drive ADA 2451 C, Arlington S 900, Va 22202 1-800-Diabetes. Facts About Type 2. American Diabetes Association. http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/type-2/facts-about-type-2.html. Accessed March 20, 2019.

- 13. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017. :20.
- 14. Insulin Resistance & Prediabetes | NIDDK. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/what-is-diabetes/prediabetes-insulin-resistance. Accessed October 19, 2018.
- Type 2 diabetes in children: Clinical aspects and risk factors Rao P V Indian J Endocr Metab. http://www.ijem.in/article.asp?issn=2230-8210;year=2015;volume=19;issue=7;spage=47;epage=50;aulast=Rao. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- Connolly V, Unwin N, Sherriff P, Bilous R, Kelly W. Diabetes prevalence and socioeconomic status: a population based study showing increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in deprived areas. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2000;54(3):173-177. doi:10.1136/jech.54.3.173
- Guran T, Turan S, Akcay T, Bereket A. Significance of acanthosis nigricans in childhood obesity. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*. 44(6):338-341. https://www.academia.edu/14398412/Significance_of_acanthosis_nigricans_in_childhood_ obesity. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature*. 2006;444(7121):840-846. doi:10.1038/nature05482
- Kluczynik CEN, Mariz LS, Souza LCF, Solano GB, Albuquerque FC de L, Medeiros CCM. Acanthosis nigricans and insulin resistance in overweight children and adolescents. *Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia*. 2012;87(4):531-537. doi:10.1590/S0365-05962012000400002
- 20. Burke JP, Hale DE, Hazuda HP, Stern MP. A quantitative scale of acanthosis nigricans. *Diabetes Care*. 1999;22(10):1655-1659.
- 21. Dietary Guidelines | Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion. https://www.cnpp.usda.gov/dietary-guidelines. Accessed April 15, 2019.
- 22. Dietary Guidelines. Choose MyPlate. https://www.choosemyplate.gov/dietary-guidelines. Published December 8, 2015. Accessed April 15, 2019.
- 23. Office of Dietary Supplements Nutrient Recommendations : Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI). https://ods.od.nih.gov/Health_Information/Dietary_Reference_Intakes.aspx. Accessed April 15, 2019.
- 24. Lovejoy JC. The influence of dietary fat on insulin resistance. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2002;2(5):435-440.
- 25. McClenaghan NH. Determining the relationship between dietary carbohydrate intake and insulin resistance. *Nutr Res Rev.* 2005;18(2):222-240. doi:10.1079/NRR2005109

- 26. al LA et. Consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages is positively related to insulin resistance and higher plasma leptin concentrations in men and nonoverweig... PubMed NCBI. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24828025. Accessed December 1, 2018.
- 27. Thomas T, Pfeiffer AFH. Foods for the prevention of diabetes: how do they work? *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2012;28(1):25-49. doi:10.1002/dmrr.1229
- Mozaffarian D, Aro A, Willett WC. Health effects of trans-fatty acids: experimental and observational evidence. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2009;63 Suppl 2:S5-21. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602973
- 29. Gately PJ, King NA, Greatwood HC, et al. Does a High-protein Diet Improve Weight Loss in Overweight and Obese Children? *Obesity*. 2007;15(6):1527-1534. doi:10.1038/oby.2007.181
- Tricò D, Prinsen H, Giannini C, et al. Elevated α-Hydroxybutyrate and Branched-Chain Amino Acid Levels Predict Deterioration of Glycemic Control in Adolescents. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2017;102(7):2473-2481. doi:10.1210/jc.2017-00475
- 31. McCormack SE, Shaham O, McCarthy MA, et al. Circulating branched-chain amino acid concentrations are associated with obesity and future insulin resistance in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Obes.* 2013;8(1):52-61. doi:10.1111/j.2047-6310.2012.00087.x
- 32. Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, et al. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 2009;9(4):311-326. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2009.02.002
- 33. Zheng Y, Ceglarek U, Huang T, et al. Weight-loss diets and 2-y changes in circulating amino acids in 2 randomized intervention trials123. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2016;103(2):505-511. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.117689
- 34. Günther ALB, Remer T, Kroke A, Buyken AE. Early protein intake and later obesity risk: which protein sources at which time points throughout infancy and childhood are important for body mass index and body fat percentage at 7 y of age? *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2007;86(6):1765-1772. doi:10.1093/ajcn/86.5.1765
- 35. Tremblay F, Lavigne C, Jacques H, Marette A. Role of dietary proteins and amino acids in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2007;27:293-310. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.25.050304.092545
- van Nielen M, Feskens EJM, Mensink M, et al. Dietary protein intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in Europe: the EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(7):1854-1862. doi:10.2337/dc13-2627
- Hoppe C, Molgaard C, Vaag A, Barkholt V, Michaelsen KF. High intakes of milk, but not meat, increase s-insulin and insulin resistance in 8-year-old boys. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. https://eurekamag.com/research/004/185/004185240.php. Published February 2, 2005. Accessed March 20, 2019.

- Turner KM, Keogh JB, Clifton PM. Red meat, dairy, and insulin sensitivity: a randomized crossover intervention study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2015;101(6):1173-1179. doi:10.3945/ajcn.114.104976
- Sluijs I, Beulens JWJ, van der A DL, Spijkerman AMW, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Dietary intake of total, animal, and vegetable protein and risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-NL study. *Diabetes Care*. 2010;33(1):43-48. doi:10.2337/dc09-1321
- Madani Z, Louchami K, Sener A, Malaisse WJ, Ait Yahia D. Dietary sardine protein lowers insulin resistance, leptin and TNF-α and beneficially affects adipose tissue oxidative stress in rats with fructose-induced metabolic syndrome. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*. 2012;29(2):311-318. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2011.836
- 41. Vang A, Singh PN, Lee JW, Haddad EH, Brinegar CH. Meats, processed meats, obesity, weight gain and occurrence of diabetes among adults: findings from Adventist Health Studies. *Ann Nutr Metab*. 2008;52(2):96-104. doi:10.1159/000121365
- 42. Schulze MB, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Processed meat intake and incidence of Type 2 diabetes in younger and middle-aged women. *Diabetologia*. 2003;46(11):1465-1473. doi:10.1007/s00125-003-1220-7
- 43. Ouellet V, Marois J, Weisnagel SJ, Jacques H. Dietary cod protein improves insulin sensitivity in insulin-resistant men and women: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2007;30(11):2816-2821. doi:10.2337/dc07-0273
- 44. Shim J-S, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiol Health*. 2014;36. doi:10.4178/epih/e2014009
- 45. (PDF) Diet history: Method and applications. ResearchGate. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8752
- 46. Cheng G, Hilbig A, Drossard C, Alexy U, Kersting M. Relative validity of a 3 d estimated food record in German toddlers. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2013;16(04):645-652. doi:10.1017/S1368980012003230
- Oceania | region, Pacific Ocean | Britannica.com. https://www.britannica.com/place/Oceania-region-Pacific-Ocean. Accessed February 2, 2019.
- 48. Historical Background: Colonization of Pacific Islands. Geriatrics. https://geriatrics.stanford.edu/ethnomed/hawaiian_pacific_islander/fund/historical_backgro und/pi_colonization.html. Published March 18, 2014. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- 49. Braun KL, Kim BJ, Ka'opua LS, Mokuau N, Browne CV. Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Elders: What Gerontologists Should Know. *Gerontologist*. 2015;55(6):912-919. doi:10.1093/geront/gnu072

- 50. Pacific Cancer Programs | U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands (USAPIs). http://pacificcancer.org/pacific-partners/index.html. Accessed February 9, 2019.
- 51. Karaeng B. The Nutrition Transition Diet and Disease in the Developing World. https://www.academia.edu/6124833/The_Nutrition_Transition_Diet_and_Disease_in_the_Developing_World. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- 52. Lassetter JH, Callister LC, Miyamoto SZ. Perceptions of health and well-being held by Native Hawaiian migrants. *J Transcult Nurs*. 2012;23(1):5-13. doi:10.1177/1043659611423835
- 53. For the Good of Mankind: A History of the People of Bikini by Jack Niedenthal. https://www.bikiniatoll.com/Mankind.html. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- 54. Hughes RG, Lawrence MA. Globalization, food and health in Pacific Island countries. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* 2005;14(4):298-306.
- 55. Steinbrecher A, Erber E, Grandinetti A, Nigg C, Kolonel LN, Maskarinec G. Physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes among Native Hawaiians, Japanese Americans, and Caucasians: the Multiethnic Cohort. *J Phys Act Health*. 2012;9(5):634-641.
- 56. Erber E, Hopping BN, Grandinetti A, Park S-Y, Kolonel LN, Maskarinec G. Dietary patterns and risk for diabetes: the multiethnic cohort. *Diabetes Care*. 2010;33(3):532-538. doi:10.2337/dc09-1621
- 57. Aluli NE. Prevalence of obesity in a Native Hawaiian population. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1991;53(6 Suppl):1556S-1560S. doi:10.1093/ajcn/53.6.1556S
- 58. Grandinetti A, Chang HK, Theriault A, Mor J. Metabolic syndrome in a multiethnic population in rural Hawaii. *Ethn Dis.* 2005;15(2):233-237.
- Black N, Nabokov V, Vijayadeva V, Novotny R. Higher Percent Body Fat in Young Women with Lower Physical Activity Level and Greater Proportion Pacific Islander Ancestry. *Hawaii Med J.* 2011;70(11 Suppl 2):43-46. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3254223/. Accessed March 20, 2019.
- 60. About Children's Healthy Living Program. http://www.chl-pacific.org/about. Accessed February 23, 2019.
- 61. Wilken LR, Novotny R, Fialkowski MK, et al. Children's Healthy Living (CHL) Program for remote underserved minority populations in the Pacific region: rationale and design of a community randomized trial to prevent early childhood obesity. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13:944. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-944
- 62. Novotny R, Li F, Fialkowski MK, et al. Prevalence of obesity and acanthosis nigricans among young children in the children's healthy living program in the United States Affiliated Pacific. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016;95(37):e4711. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000004711

- 63. Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. *Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics Books; 1988.
- 64. Growth Charts 2000 CDC Growth Charts United States. https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/cdc_charts.htm. Accessed November 3, 2018.
- 65. Lin Y, Bolca S, Vandevijvere S, et al. Plant and animal protein intake and its association with overweith and obesity among the Belgian population. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2010;105:1106-1116. doi:10.1017/S0007114510004642
- 66. Kalergis M, Leung Yinko SSL, Nedelcu R. Dairy Products and Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes: Implications for Research and Practice. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2013;4. doi:10.3389/fendo.2013.00090
- 67. Food Composition Databases Show Nutrients List. https://ndb.nal.usda.gov/ndb/nutrients/report/nutrientsfrm?max=25&offset=0&totCount=0 &nutrient1=509&nutrient2=&nutrient3=&subset=1&fg=&sort=c&measureby=m. Accessed April 12, 2019.